WOOA app neg.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN F. CURRY

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

Second DCA

Case No.: 93-01827

FSC

Case No.: 85,910

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

FILED

STOJE VARITE

JUL 29 1996

CLERK, BUPREMA COURT

Cited Deserv Stock

On Appeal From the Second District Court of Appeal and the Sixth Judicial Circuit In and For Pinellas County

> Jeffrey E. Appel, Esquire Fla. Bar No.: 994030 HOLLAND & KNIGHT Post Office Box 32092 Lakeland, Florida 33802-2092 (941) 682-1161

Attorney for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, JOHN CURRY, will be referred to as "Curry." Respondent, STATE OF FLORIDA, will be referred to as "the State." Reference to the record will be by the use of the symbol "R," followed by the appropriate page number(s) in the record. All emphasis is supplied unless otherwise noted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

John Curry was charged with violations of Section 800.04, Florida Statutes in early 1991. (R 12, 58-59, 93-94). Curry hired Paul Levine, Esquire, to defend him and Levine filed his Notice of Appearance and entered a plea of not guilty on Curry's behalf. (R 4-5, 95-96). Levine also procured psychiatric treatment for Curry. (R 8-12).

Subsequently, on April 1, 1992, Levine moved to withdraw based on an alleged conflict which prevented him from proceeding as Curry's counsel. (R 22-23). Curry filed a motion to appear in objection to Levine's motion to withdraw the next day. (R 24-25). On April 7, 1992, Judge Luten granted Levine's motion to withdraw by an order which indicated Curry was present. (R 26).

Thereafter, Curry was represented by the public defender's office. (R 32). Curry continued to receive psychiatric treatment through various rehabilitation programs. (R 162).

On April 7, 1993, a change of plea hearing was held before Judge Beach. (R 111). At the commencement of the plea hearing defense counsel sought unsuccessfully to negotiate a plea, as opposed to entering a straight-up plea. (R 113). The court expressed concern that a negotiated plea was inappropriate because Curry previously had been before the Court. (R 113). The Court was also concerned that, given the delay in the case, Curry was "jerking the system around." (R 123). In response to these concerns, Curry and his defense counsel attempted to explain that a change in counsel and Curry's participation in rehabilitation had delayed the proceedings and that Curry did not previously have an opportunity to negotiate a plea. (R 113-114, 116, 119-123).

During the course of this explanation, defense counsel, but not Curry, explained certain events that occurred during Curry's representation by Levine. (R 121-122). Defense counsel merely explained that Levine was hired by Curry to represent him with respect to the charges and that Levine subsequently moved to withdraw from the case. (R 121). Defense counsel further explained her understanding that the hearing on Levine's motion was held ex parte, a statement which was not disputed by the State, and that, at that time, the defendant had concerns about what might have been said during the hearing. (R 121). The trial court required the defendant to enter a straight-up plea, (R 129-131), and Curry pled guilty to the charges against him. (R 134).

The following day, April 8, 1993, a sentencing hearing was conducted before Judge Beach to determine an appropriate sentence. (R 140-241). At the sentencing hearing, defense counsel proceeded to inform the court of the steps Curry had taken to "turn his life around," and overcome his history of family problems and alcohol and drug abuse. (R 144-146). This included: (1) that Curry had sought and obtained various scholarships and grants to attend school; (2) that Curry was enrolled full time as a student at St. Petersburg Junior College; and (3) that he was working full time in the evenings in a position in which he supervised others. (R 144-145).

Defense counsel also advised the trial court that since Curry's arrest, he had attended and completed several programs for alcohol and drug treatment to deal with his substance abuse problem and manic-depressive illness. (R 146-147). In each case, defense counsel explained Curry's compliance with the program's requirements. (R 147).

In further support of factors mitigating Curry's past criminal acts, the defense called three witnesses -- a clinical psychologist, the resident manager at a recovery center and a substance abuse counselor -- all of whom had contact with Curry during his participation in substance abuse programs while awaiting disposition of the charges against him. These witnesses described Curry as a willing participant in treatment programs for his problems. (R 151-153, 154-155, and 155-156). They all confirmed Curry's intent to overcome his problems and to progress towards successful rehabilitation. (Id). This testimony was corroborated by Curry himself, who testified that he accepted responsibility for his past actions and problems, and that he had taken necessary steps toward rehabilitation. (R 163-165).

In an attempt to place Curry's post-offense activities into context, defense counsel related certain events that occurred while Curry was represented by Levine. These statements indicated that: (1) Curry hired Levine to represent him for a sum between \$30,000 and \$35,000; (2) Curry indicated Levine told him that the charges were "relatively minor" and that Levine felt "they could be worked out to battery charges;" (3) Levine informed him that he could get Curry into a therapeutic program, which he did; and (4) the time "spent in the program would count against any jail or prison sentence that he got." (R 150). Defense counsel made clear that her point was to explain that even though the charges were not "relatively minor," and that Curry was upset with Levine's representation, that Curry, nevertheless, continued with the rehabilitation initiated and arranged by Levine. (R 150-151).

Following the presentation of the defense witnesses, and prior to the testimony of the witnesses on behalf of the State, Levine interjected himself into the sentencing hearing, and approached the trial court "to address the court as to some allegations that were made about him." (R 166).

Levine proceeded to inform the court that defense counsel and the witnesses for Curry "don't know the Mr. Curry that I know and dealt with." Levine further remarked that "it's a shame that I can't go into the full scenario of items that I would like to talk about." (R 167). Levine then urged Curry to waive his attorney/client privilege "so I can tell the court exactly why I withdrew." (R 167). He expressly acknowledged the privileged nature of the communications he sought to disclose, stating, "I don't want to do it unless he's willing to let me tell the truth." (R 167-168).

Defense counsel objected, asserting Curry's attorney/client privilege. (R 168). Defense counsel further asserted that, if Curry had waived his privilege at all, the waiver was limited to the representations Levine made to Curry at the time he was hired regarding the charges against Curry and the jail credit for the time he spent in rehabilitation programs. Defense counsel acknowledged that she made the decision to make even these limited disclosures and that Curry had no part in that decision. (R 168, 162-163).

Contrary to Levine's prior statement that he did not want to testify unless Curry waived the privilege, Levine persisted, raising "comments" about his decision to withdraw from the case, which Levine claimed defense counsel argued had caused Curry "great stress and discomfort." (R 168). Defense counsel responded that she was not

alleging any impropriety by Levine. (R 168). Again, defense counsel expressly asserted Curry's objection to his former Counsel's incriminating testimony at the sentencing hearing. (R 171).

However, the trial court intervened and indicated a willingness to allow Levine to explain why he withdrew from the case to the extent the trial court had understood defense counsel to argue during the plea and sentencing hearings that Levine withdrew "without notice to your client, without discussion with your client, and done without your client being present, ex parte, without the State being there." (R 171). It was under these explicit circumstances, if they were in fact the case, that the trial court believed that defense counsel had "placed a cloud over Mr. Levine." (Id.)

In response, defense counsel made clear that defendant had received notice of the motion to withdraw (R 172), and did have conversations with Levine prior to the hearing on the motion regarding the reasons for that motion. (R 173). Defense counsel characterized the hearing of Levine's motion to withdraw as an "ex parte" hearing based on her understanding that Curry was not in the hearing room when the motion was heard and thus could not relate to the court what occurred during the hearing. (R 170). At no time during either hearing did the State or Levine contest defense counsel's assertion that Curry was not present during this hearing.

Defense counsel consistently maintained, although not always clearly, that Curry had notice and had discussions with Levine regarding his reasons for withdrawing from the case. (R 172, 173). As defense counsel explained, "if I represented to the court that he didn't know it was going to happen, I didn't mean to. He knew, he just was not

present." (R 172). Defense counsel did not intend to allege any impropriety by Levine. (R 168).

Levine then argued that the reasons he withdrew as Curry's counsel were raised in a Bar grievance proceeding, which Levine said had been dismissed. (R 173, 167). Levine asserted that Curry's privilege was waived because the grievance was a "public record now." (R 173). That "public record" was not presented to the trial court at the sentencing hearing by either Levine or the State and it is not part of this record.

Nevertheless, the trial court concluded that Levine should be permitted to "give his side of the story" because "a cloud" had been raised concerning his reputation. The trial court reasoned that "in all fairness to" Levine, he should be permitted to testify to give his reasons for withdrawing from the case. (R 173). Additionally, the trial court concluded that "if, in fact, it was a basis for a grievance," then there was a waiver of the attorney/client privilege. (R 173-174). Neither the trial court or Levine ever indicated how his testimony would be relevant to Curry's sentencing hearing. Nevertheless, Levine was permitted to testify against Curry over defense counsel's objection. (R 174).

In explaining why he withdrew from the case, Levine disclosed alleged earlier statements by Curry that were directly contrary to Curry's testimony at the sentencing hearing. These included Curry's statement that "he had no desire to cooperate or to get better because he didn't think there was anything wrong with him." (R 175). Levine also related that Curry had expressed to him that he did not intend to disclose certain assets that were available to him for expenses in his case. (R 175-176). As a

result, Levine said that there was a breakdown in his communications with Curry, which prompted his motion to withdraw. (Id.)

Apart from the explanation regarding why he withdrew, Levine also made impromptu comments regarding Curry's attendance and completion of treatment programs pending his plea and sentencing hearings, noting that "you would need a travel agent to keep track of it." (R 175). He further expressed his opinion that the people testifying on Curry's behalf didn't know "the full story", and that after handling "between 5,000 and 6,000 cases. . . . and representing many thousands of people" that he felt Curry was "extremely manipulative and very clever." (R 177).

The State then proceeded to call its witnesses. (R 177-229). These witnesses were present during Levine's testimony and one incorporated his comments into her own testimony regarding Curry's alleged unwillingness to be "honest." (R 227).

Subsequently, the trial court sentenced Curry to the Department of Corrections for a period of ten years with credit for time served followed by two years community control followed by three years of probation. (R 239).

On April 8, 1993, the trial court entered a judgment which included the assessment of attorney's fees and costs of defense in an unspecified amount. (R 44-49). On the same day, the trial court entered an order of Community Control followed by Probation, which specified the conditions of community control and probation for Curry. (R 50-53). Only one of these conditions was pronounced in open court.

Thereafter, Curry appealed the sentence on the grounds that: (1) the trial court erred in permitting Curry's former counsel to testify against Curry at the sentencing

hearing over defense counsel's objection based on fundamental attorney/client privilege;

(2) the trial court erred in imposing certain conditions of community control and probation which were not pronounced in open court; and (3) the trial court erred in assessing an unspecified amount of attorney's fees and costs of defense, reduced to a judgment lien against Curry, without any notice to Curry. On appeal, the Second District Court of Appeal affirmed the sentence but remanded the case for corrections to Curry's Order of Community Control Followed by Probation and to the Judgement for Fine and Costs. The District Court of Appeal concluded that the other points raised on appeal did not constituted reversible error. Curry v. State, 656 So.2d 521 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1995).

On 5/26/95, Curry invoked the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court. On 9/13/95, this Court issued an order staying the case at bar, sua sponte, pending the disposition of State v. Hart, 668 So.2d 589 (Fla. 1996). Thereafter, on 6/25/96, this Court vacated the stay and accepted jurisdiction. Thus, pursuant to the acceptance of jurisdiction by the Court, Curry hereby appeals the Second District Court of Appeal's decision, as reported at Curry v. State, 656 So.2d 521 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1995), and respectfully requests that the Court consider the meritorious issues outlined below.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Whether the trial court erred in permitting Curry's former counsel to testify against Curry at his sentencing hearing over defense counsel's objection based on fundamental attorney/client privilege.

- II. Whether the trial court erred in imposing certain conditions of community control and probation which were not pronounced in open court.
- III. Whether the trial court erred in assessing an unspecified amount of attorney's fees and costs of defense, reduced to judgment lien against Curry without any notice to Curry.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. The attorney/client privilege is an indispensable and fundamental precept of the administration of justice. That privilege allows clients to fully discuss their case with their attorneys without fear that those statements will later be used against them. That fundamental privilege was violated in this case when the trial court permitted Curry's former trial counsel to testify against him at his sentencing hearing over his express objection based on attorney/client privilege.

No exception to the privilege exists in this case. Curry's plea and sentencing hearings did not involve any issues that implicated Curry's former counsel, Levine. Curry and his defense counsel made no allegations of impropriety or wrongdoing against his former counsel. Accordingly, no claim of wrongful conduct necessitated a response by Curry's former counsel, which would operate to waive the privilege.

Additionally, Curry did not waive the privilege with respect to the facts relevant to his former counsel's disclosure of the alleged reasons he withdrew from the case. Moreover, there is no waiver evident in the record based on any prior proceeding. Accordingly, since no exception or waiver existed, the trial court was led into error by

Curry's former counsel, Levine, when it permitted him to testify against Curry over Curry's objection based on the attorney/client privilege.

II. Special conditions of community control and probation must be pronounced in open court. This procedure guarantees a defendant notice and an opportunity to contest the conditions. However, in this case, the trial court announced the imposition of only one special condition at the sentencing hearing. The trial court failed to notify Curry of the additional special conditions of community control and probation which were, in fact, imposed on him by the trial court's subsequent order. After appeal to the Second District Court of Appeal, some special conditions were stricken from the Order of Community Control Followed by Probation; however, others were merely modified. Those stricken included Conditions 4, 11 and 15. Those to be modified included Conditions 6, 18 and 19. Curry now appeals the remand for modification of Conditions 6, 18 and 19, which conditions Curry asserts should have been struck because they were special conditions. Additionally, the conflict between Nank v. State, 646 So.2d 762 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1994) and Navarre v. State, 608 So.2d 525 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) has been resolved. (See State v. Hart, 668 So.2d 589 (Fla. 1996).)¹ Accordingly, the appellate court's holding that all or parts of Conditions 6, 11, 15 and 18 must be struck, should be affirmed. However, the appellate court's decision, with respect to Conditions 6, 18 and 19, should be reversed, and those special conditions

¹Although the District Court certified only the issue regarding special conditions, Curry hereby seeks review of the trial court's ruling which involved other fundamental errors. See State v. Smith, 573 So.2d 306 (Fla. 1990).

should be entirely stricken from the Order of Community Control Followed by Probation.

III. Finally, a lien for defense fees and costs may be imposed against a defendant only upon notice to the defendant of his right to a hearing to challenge the amount. Curry was not notified of the lien at sentencing, nor was he notified that he had the right to a hearing to challenge the amount of the lien. The Second District Court of Appeal considered Curry's argument against the imposition of defense fees and costs; however, the appellate court merely modified the amount of the costs imposed, instead of striking the lien as the law requires. The lien for defense fees and costs against Curry must be stricken.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING DEFENDANT'S FORMER TRIAL COUNSEL TO TESTIFY AGAINST THE DEFENDANT AT HIS SENTENCING HEARING

Curry appeals his sentence because he failed to receive a fair hearing as guaranteed under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Section 90.502, Florida Statutes governing the attorney/client privilege. This issue was raised before the District Court of Appeal on this direct appeal, but was not addressed by the appellate court.

The attorney/client privilege has long been recognized by Florida courts and is in fact, codified in Section 90.502, Florida Statutes, which provides that "a client has a privilege to refuse to disclose, and to prevent any other persons from disclosing, the contents of confidential communications..." § 90.502(2), Fla. Stat. (1993); Seaboard Air

Line Railway Co. v. Timmons, 61 So. 2d. 426, 428 (Fla. 1952); Keir v. State, 11 So. 2d 886, 888 (1943); § 90.502, Fla. Stat. (1993). This privilege, this Court long ago held, "is a sacred one, and one that is indispensable to the administration of justice." Seaboard Air Line Railway Co., 61 So. 2d at 428. Enforcement of the privilege to preserve confidential communications between an attorney and client then, is a fundamental principle of the administration of justice.

Consistent with this principle, the Florida Supreme Court has further held that the privilege promotes the administration of justice by encouraging clients to "lay the facts fully before their counsel." <u>Brookings v. State</u>, 495 So.2d 135, 139 (Fla. 1986). As a practical matter, the court recognized that "by encouraging full disclosure, a client is able to receive fully informed legal advice without the fear that his statements may communications later be used against him." <u>Id</u>. In this regard, the attorney/client privilege is a significant factor in the protection of fundamental personal rights. <u>Id</u>. As this Court previously explained:

The attorney client privilege arises in the context of a relationship having great significance for the protection of fundamental personal rights. For example, the ability to speak freely to one's attorney helps to preserve rights protected by the fifth amendment privilege against self-incrimination and the sixth amendment right to legal representation.

<u>Id.</u>, quoting <u>Mills v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 172, 176 (Fla. 1985), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, U.S. 106 S.Ct. 1241 (1986).

These principles are equally applicable to Curry's sentencing hearing. Levine's testimony at Curry's sentencing hearing contrary to Curry's assertion of the attorney/client privilege violated Curry's right to a fair hearing. See Gardner v.

Florida, 430 U.S. 349, 358 (1977) ("the sentencing process, as well as the trial itself, must satisfy the requirements of the due process clause," and a defendant has a "legitimate interest in the character of the procedure which leads to the imposition of sentence even if he may have no right to object to a particular result of the sentencing process.") (plurality opinion). Curry was denied the right granted to him under Section 90.502, Florida Statutes to prevent Levine from disclosing confidential communications. These statements were used against him at the sentencing hearing. As a result, their disclosure did not promote the "administration of justice" in Curry's case, thus violating that fundamental precept behind the privilege. Seaboard Air Line Railway Co., 61 So. 2d at 428; Brooking, 495 So. 2d at 139.

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