IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN F. CURRY,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

FSC Case No. 85,910

D77

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS Senior Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief, Criminal Law Division, Tampa Florida Bar No. 0238538

> STEPHEN D. AKE Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0014087 Westwood Center 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 873-4739

> > COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ALLOWED PETITIONER'S FORMER TRIAL COUNSEL TO TESTIFY AT PETITIONER'S SENTENCING HEARING.

This Court's jurisdiction is based on article V, section 3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution. This section allows this Court to review any decision of a district court of appeal that is certified to be in direct conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal. Art. V, § 3(b)(4), Fla. Const. In the instant case, the Second District Court of Appeal certified conflict with the First District Court of Appeal on the issue of a condition of community control. <u>See Curry v. State</u>, 656 So. 2d 521, 522 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995) (certifying conflict with <u>Navarre v.</u> <u>State</u>, 608 So. 2d 525 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) on a condition of community control requiring Petitioner to submit to and pay for evaluation and treatment of any alcohol or drug problem).

Petitioner appeals his sentence to this Court and reargues issues raised in his direct appeal to the Second District Court of Appeal that were not addressed by the district court in determining the certified conflict. Specifically, Petitioner raises the alleged impropriety of the trial court's decision to allow Petitioner's former trial counsel to testify at

Petitioner's sentencing hearing. The Second District stated in its opinion that "Curry raised other points on appeal which we have concluded did not constitute reversible error." <u>Curry</u>, 656 So. 2d at 522 n.1.

Respondent submits that this issue is not properly before this Court based on this Court's limited jurisdiction in deciding the certified conflict. The district courts of appeal were meant to be courts of final, appellate jurisdiction. <u>Lake v. Lake</u>, 103 So. 2d 639 (Fla. 1958). In <u>Lake</u>, this Court stated

Sustaining the dignity of decisions of the district courts of appeal must depend largely on the determination of the Supreme Court not to venture beyond the limitations of its own *powers* by arrogating to itself the right to delve into a decision of a district court of appeal primarily to decide whether or not the Supreme Court agrees with the district court of appeal about the disposition of a given case.

Id. at 642. This Court further opined that when a district court certifies conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal on the same point of law, this Court may grant certiorari, and after careful study, "the decision of the district court of appeal may be quashed or modified to the end that any conflict may be reconciled." Id. at 643 (emphasis added). In the instant case, Petitioner would have this Court review the decision of the Second District on an issue not related to the certified

conflict. Petitioner simply "is not entitled to two appeals." Lake, 103 So. 2d at 642.

Petitioner's reliance on <u>State v. Smith</u>, 573 So. 2d 306 (Fla. 1990) is misplaced. <u>See</u> Initial Brief of Petitioner at 11, <u>Curry v. State</u> (Case No. 85,910). In <u>Smith</u>, the State petitioned this Court to answer questions certified by the Second District Court of Appeal and the defendant filed a cross-petition alleging additional errors. <u>Smith</u>, 573 So. 2d at 309. This Court reviewed and found merit in the issues raised in Smith's crosspetition. <u>Id.</u> at 312.

The <u>Smith</u> case is distinguishable from the instant case in that in <u>Smith</u>, both sides obviously briefed and argued all of the issues to this Court in the defendant's cross-petition, and the Second District Court of Appeal addressed the defendant's issues in its written opinion. <u>See generally Smith v. State</u>, 539 So. 2d 514 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989). As this Court stated in <u>Savoie v. State</u>, 422 So. 2d 308, 310 (Fla. 1982), "once we accept jurisdiction over a cause in order to resolve a legal issue in conflict, we may, in our discretion, consider other issues *properly raised and argued* before this Court."

Respondent would argue that Petitioner's first issue is not properly raised in the instant case given the fact that the

Second District Court of Appeal did not address the issue of the trial court's decision to allow Petitioner's former trial counsel to testify at his sentencing hearing. It would be pure speculation to attempt to find a basis for the district court's decision in regards to this issue. The Second District could have found that Petitioner waived his attorney-client privilege when he alleged impropriety against his counsel or, the district court could have found waiver based on the undisputed testimony that Petitioner filed a Florida Bar grievance against his counsel or, the district court may have concluded that even if the trial court erred, it was harmless error given the testimony at Petitioner's sentencing hearing. Consequently, this Court should find that this issue is not properly raised.

Even if this Court does review this issue, Respondent submits that the trial court properly allowed Petitioner's former trial counsel to testify at his sentencing hearing. It was undisputed at the sentencing hearing that Petitioner filed a Florida Bar grievance against his former trial counsel, Paul Levine, and that at least one of the allegations in the grievance involved the reasons for counsel's earlier withdrawal from the case. (R.167,173). In addition, Petitioner raised allegations during his plea and sentencing hearings that the trial court

appropriately interpreted as an attack on Mr. Levine's representation of Petitioner. (R.121-122;173-174).

Florida courts have consistently followed the rule that "a lawyer who represents a client in any criminal proceeding may reveal communications between him and his client when accused of wrongful conduct by his client concerning his representation where such revelation is necessary to establish whether his conduct was wrongful as accused." <u>Turner v. State</u>, 530 So. 2d 45, 46 (Fla. 1987) (quoting <u>Wilson v. Wainwright</u>, 248 So. 2d 249, 259 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971)). Florida Statutes, section 90.502(4)(c) states that "[t]here is no lawyer-client privilege under this section when: . . . (c) A communication is relevant to an issue of breach of duty by the lawyer to the client or by the client to his lawyer, arising from the lawyer-client relationship." § 90.502(4)(c), Fla. Stat. (1995); <u>see also</u> R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.6(c)(2) & (4).

In the instant case, the trial court properly allowed Mr. Levine to testify at Petitioner's sentencing hearing based on Petitioner's waiver of the attorney-client privilege. Respondent submits that Petitioner waived the attorney-client privilege by directing allegations of misconduct towards Mr. Levine in both a Florida Bar grievance, and at the plea and sentencing hearing.

It was undisputed at the sentencing hearing that Petitioner filed a Bar grievance against Mr. Levine, and at least one of the allegations related to Mr. Levine's withdrawal from Petitioner's case. (R.167, 173). In addition, Petitioner made allegations regarding Mr. Levine's withdrawal from the case that placed "a cloud over Mr. Levine's reputation." (R.171-173). Based on these allegations, the trial court properly found that Petitioner waived the attorney-client privilege with regards to the nature of Mr. Levine's withdrawal from the case.

Even if the trial court erred in admitting the testimony of Mr. Levine, Respondent submits that the error was harmless. The trial court's decision to sentence Petitioner to the Department of Corrections for ten years was based on the nature of the charges and on Petitioner's apparent refusal to accept responsibility for his inappropriate sexual actions and to sincerely seek treatment for his pedophilia problem. The trial court considered Petitioner's prior record as well as the testimony of several witnesses prior to imposing his sentence. (R.237-239). It was clear from the witnesses' testimony that Petitioner did not sincerely feel he had a problem that needed treatment. (R.215). Although the evidence established that Petitioner preyed on pre-pubescent males, gaining their affection

by supplying them with drugs, alcohol and gifts, Petitioner told a trusted friend prior to his arrest that he did not want to change his behavior towards the young boys. (R.178-204; 215-216).

Based on all of the testimony, the trial court concluded that Petitioner had never really addressed the underlying problem of his pedophilia. (R.238-239). The court found that Petitioner never sought help for his pedophilia until he was arrested and faced incarceration, despite the fact that Petitioner was aware of his problem for a number of years and was aware of the possible ramifications of his actions. (R.238-239). Given Petitioner's criminal background and numerous failed rehabilitation attempts, the trial court would have imposed the same sentence absent Mr. Levine's testimony. Consequently, Petitioner's sentence should be affirmed. THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN STRIKING CONDITION 18 OF PETITIONER'S COMMUNITY CONTROL, BUT CORRECTLY AFFIRMED OR MODIFIED THE OTHER CHALLENGED CONDITIONS.

II.

As part of Petitioner's sentence, the trial court placed Petitioner on community control followed by probation. (R.50-53). Petitioner claims on appeal to this Court that many of the conditions are special conditions which should have been orally pronounced at sentencing. <u>See</u> Initial Brief of Petitioner at 25-26, <u>Curry v. State</u> (Case No. 85, 910). Petitioner states that conditions 4, 5, 6, 8, 11, 15, 18 and 19 are all special conditions that should be struck. <u>Id.</u> at 26.

The Second District Court of Appeal struck conditions 4, 11, and 15 because they were special conditions not orally pronounced at sentencing. <u>Curry v. State</u>, 656 So. 2d 521, 522 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995). The court struck a portion of condition 6 requiring Petitioner not to use intoxicants to excess, but stated that the remainder of the condition was valid. <u>Id.</u> As to Condition 18, the Second District struck this condition but certified conflict to this Court based on <u>Navarre v. State</u>, 608 So. 2d 525 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). The Second District modified condition 19 to reflect the proper amount of court costs imposed.

Although Petitioner challenges conditions 5, 6 and 8 of Petitioner's community control and alleges that these are special conditions of probation, this Court has held that these are general conditions of probation that need not be orally pronounced at sentencing. <u>See State v. Hart</u>, 668 So. 2d 589, 593 (Fla. 1996); <u>Curry</u>, 656 So. 2d at 523 n.2 (holding that the "trial court lawfully imposed these valid conditions").

The Second District Court of Appeal struck condition 18 of Petitioner's community control, but certified conflict with <u>Navarre v. State</u>, 608 So. 2d 525 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). Condition 18 of Petitioner's community control states:

You shall submit to and pay for an evaluation to determine whether or not you have any treatable problem with alcohol and/or illegal drug. If you have said problem, you are to submit to, pay for, and successfully complete any recommended treatment program as a result of said evaluation, all to be completed at the discretion of your Probation Officer. (R.52).

In <u>Navarre</u>, the First District Court of Appeal affirmed "the requirement that Appellant receive drug evaluation and screening and any necessary treatment, as that is a standard condition of probation that can be imposed on any probationer, irrespective of whether it reasonably relates to the type of offense." <u>Id.</u> at 528 (citations omitted).

As this Court stated in Hart, general conditions of

probation contained within the statutes need not be orally pronounced at sentencing. <u>Hart</u>, 668 So. 2d at 592. The rationale for this rule is that the statutes provide a defendant with "constructive notice of the condition which together with the opportunity to be heard and raise any objections at a sentencing hearing satisfies the requirements of procedural due process." <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>Tillman v. State</u>, 592 So. 2d 767, 768 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992)).

Respondent submits that condition 18 of Petitioner's community control is merely a more definitive statement of the general conditions of community control contained in Florida Statutes, sections 948.03(1)(k) and 948.03(4). <u>But see</u> Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.986(e) (listing under "Special Conditions" a condition requiring a defendant to "undergo a (drug/alcohol) evaluation and, if treatment is deemed necessary, you must successfully complete the treatment"). Florida Statutes, section 948.03(1)(k) states that, as a general condition of probation, a probationer must submit to random drug testing. § 948.03(1)(k), Fla. Stat. (1995). As the <u>Navarre</u> court correctly held, a condition mandating drug evaluation and any necessary treatment is a standard condition of probation based on the authority of Florida Statutes, section 948.03(k). <u>Navarre</u>, 608 So. 2d at 528. In

addition, Florida Statutes, section 948.03(4) provides that a court shall require diagnosis and evaluation of a probationer to determine the need for treatment whenever a probationer pleads guilty to a lewd, lascivious, or indecent assault or act upon a child. § 948.03(4), Fla. Stat. (1995). Accordingly, this Court should follow <u>Navarre</u> and reverse the Second District Court of Appeal's decision with regard to condition 18 of Petitioner's conditions of probation. The remaining challenged conditions of probation should be affirmed. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY IMPOSED COSTS AGAINST PETITIONER.

III.

Petitioner asserts in his brief that the court erred in imposing an unspecified amount of attorney's fees and costs without notice to the defendant. This issue was raised on direct appeal to the Second District Court of Appeal, but was not addressed in the court's written opinion. Thus, Respondent adopts the argument contained in its brief on the first issue regarding Petitioner's ability to argue an issue that was not addressed by the appellate court in its decision.

The Second District Court of Appeal addressed court costs imposed pursuant to the trial court's Judgment for Fine and Costs. (R.242). The court modified condition 19 of Petitioner's community control to show total statutory court costs in the amount of \$253 instead of \$300. The district court struck the \$45 costs of prosecution and the \$2 portion of the total \$5 amount assessed for the Criminal Justice Trust Fund pursuant to section 943.25(13), Florida Statutes (1991). <u>Curry v. State</u>, 656 So. 2d 521, 522-23 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995). The district court did not address the issue of attorney fees and costs of defense.

Even if this Court reviews this issue, Respondent submits

that Florida Statutes, sections 27.56 and 948.03(1)(i) provide Petitioner with constructive notice of these costs. In addition, Petitioner signed three Affidavits of Insolvency which expressly waives the notice requirement of attorney fees. (R.3, 32, 60). If this Court finds that the attorney fees were improperly imposed, Respondent requests that the fees be stricken without prejudice to the trial court to reimpose them after notice and an opportunity to be heard. <u>See Crawford v. State</u>, 616 So. 2d 1158, 1160 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993).

CONCLUSION

Based on the Second District Court of Appeal's opinion, as well as the foregoing arguments and authorities, the State respectfully requests that this Honorable Court reverse the Second District Court of Appeal's opinion striking condition 18 of Petitioner's community control and affirm the remainder of the court's decision.